IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2009-IA-00651-SCT

SIMMONS LAW GROUP, P.A. and HEBER S. SIMMONS, III

APPELLANTS

v.

CORPORATE MANAGEMENT, INC. (CMI)

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF THE APPELLANTS, SIMMONS LAW GROUP, P.A. and HEBER S. SIMMONS, III

(ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED)

Danny A. Drake, MS
Alexander F. Guidry, MS
Mockbee Hall Drake & Hodge, P.A.
Capital Towers, Suite 1820
125 South Congress Street
Jackson, MS 39201
(601) 353-0035
(610) 353-0045

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANTS

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

I. STATEMENT OF ISSUES

Whether the Circuit Court of Greene County abused its discretion in denying Appellants, Simmons Law Group, P.A.'s and Heber S. Simmons, III's ("Simmons"), Motion for Summary Judgment by finding that Appellee, Corporate Management, Inc. ("CMI"), had introduced sufficient evidence under Miss. R. Civ. P. 56 to support its position that there was a genuine issue as to whether Simmons' allegedly defamatory statement was false.

Whether the Circuit Court of Greene County abused its discretion by failing to find that CMI had not met its burden to introduce sufficient evidence to show there was any genuine issue as to whether Simmons had a high degree of awareness of the probable falsity of, or entertained serious doubts as to the truth of, his allegedly defamatory statement.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case

In January 2008, CMI and the Greene County Board of Supervisors ("Greene County") were embroiled in litigation over Greene County's termination of CMI's contracts to manage Greene Rural Health Center ("GRHC"). See, Greene County v. Corporate Mgmt., 10 So.3d 424 (Miss. 2009). Shortly following a January 23,

2008 motion hearing on CMI's failure to produce financial records (the "January Motion Hearing"), Simmons, as Greene County's attorney, said the following, in part, to a reporter which was later published on January 25, 2008 in the <u>Hattiesburg American</u>:

This is a prime example of why the Medicare situation in the state and across the country is in the shape it is. CMI is sucking these facilities dry. That money is coming out of the pockets of the people laying in those beds, their families and Medicare.

CMI filed a defamation suit against Simmons a month later. Simmons then moved for summary judgment asserting that CMI was a "vortex" public figure and, as such, could not meet its burden of proof because Simmons' statement was based on undisputed facts and even if the facts were ultimately proven to be untrue now, that does not prove actual malice.

At the hearing, CMI admitted that it was a "vortex" public figure thus subjecting itself to the actual malice standard. CMI's offer of proof of actual malice was CMI's C.O.O.'s self-serving affidavit alleging only that the facts on which Simmons' statement was based were false - and therefore the statement itself was not true. The Circuit Court of Greene County held the affidavit created a genuine issue of material fact as to whether the facts Simmons relied on were false. The Circuit Court committed two errors. First, the Circuit Court's ruling failed to consider whether CMI's proof was adequate under Rule 56 to show that Simmons' statement was false. Therefore, the Circuit Court abused its discretion when it ruled that CMI had created a genuine issue

as to whether the statement was false.

Second, the Circuit Court's ruling failed to consider whether CMI's evidence, taken as true, could prove by clear and convincing evidence another essential element of CMI's vortex public figure defamation case. Since this case involves a vortex public figure, CMI had the burden to prove actual malice and to do that CMI not only had to prove that Simmons' statement was false, it also had to prove that at the time Simmons made his statement he had a high degree of awareness of the probable falsity of, or entertained serious doubts as to the truth of, what he said. CMI's proof, even taken as admissible, probative and true, only goes to prove that today there might be some small doubt that what Simmons said could possibly be false. Therefore, there is this essential element of CMI's case as to which there is no genuine issue and CMI's cause of action must fail. The Circuit Court abused its discretion when it did not find that CMI had failed to prove this essential element of CMI's vortex public figure - defamation case.

B. The Course of Proceedings and Disposition in the Court Below

On March 7, 2008, CMI filed the present action against Simmons. R:6. Simmons moved for summary judgment, R:16, and after a hearing on March 19, 2009, the trial court entered an Order denying Simmons' motion. R.E. Tab 3; R:109-110.

C. Statement of the Facts

CMI, a private hospital and nursing home administrator, contracted to manage the public hospital and nursing home in Greene

County, known as the Greene Rural Health Center ("GRHC"). R.E. Tab 4; R:33. Greene County terminated CMI's management contracts.

R.E. Tab 4; R:33-34. CMI filed suit against Greene County and others for breach of contract ("CMI v. GRHC"). R.E. Tab 4; R:34.

Greene County retained Heber Simmons and the Simmons Law Group as defense counsel. R.E. Tab 4; R:35.

A year prior to Simmons' retention, James Aldridge, a former administrator of GRHC, gave a sworn statement about his experiences working for CMI at GRHC ("Aldridge Statement"). R.E. Tab 4; R: 36-55. Aldridge testified in part:

Quest Medical is owned by Corporate Management, Incorporated. It is the medical supply company for all the medical facilities that they operate.

Quest Rehab is an independent rehab company that provides basically occupational therapy, speech therapy, physical therapy.

R.E. Tab 4; R:39.

* * *

Seeking competitive prices and services was really never an option. It was always mandated that we will buy from Quest Medical.

* * *

I was told from day one basically that we buy all of our medical supplies from Quest Medical. We buy all of our supplies from Quest Medical and we use rehab services through Quest Rehab, that was not an option, that was just the way it is. We own these companies.

¹ Greene County and CMI's contractual relationship and the complicated procedural history in the Greene County Chancery Court is comprehensively detailed in <u>Greene County</u>, 10 So.3d at ¶¶ 2-23.

* * *

... [StarAnn Lemear, C.O.O. of CMI] said, "You always get the Quest Medical bids first, then you find higher ones than Quest Medical, so we can always buy from Quest Medical."

R.E. Tab 4; R:42.

* * *

I could have bought straight from the vendor or I could have bought from a multitude of other people that sell that same product; however, per the mandate that was issued to me by StarAnn Lemear, okay, buying from another company besides Quest Medical was not an option unless Quest Medical did not offer the same product.

R.E. Tab 4; R:46.

* * *

[The Board] had done some research and discovered that the RFP was 3,000 or \$3500, and that you had to get multiple bids over \$3500. Well, I was freaking out because I was told by Miss Lemear that it was \$15,000. And so I started calling - I called Miss Lemear, I said, "What do you want me to do about all of this stuff that we bought that was over \$15,000?" She said, "I want you to go back and get multiple bids." I said, "Well, we've already purchased them and some of this equipment is already in the building." And she said, "go back and get backdated quotes."

R.E. Tab 4; R:48.

* * *

[A] majority of the time [Quest was] not the lowest 90 percent of the time.

R.E. Tab 4; R:50.

* * *

There was quite a bit of self-dealing going on besides the purchasing of the medical supplies through Quest Medical, which is owned by Ted Cane, CMI. They also own - "they," Ted Cane, CMI, also owned a corporate company called Quest Rehab Services. They provide physical therapy, occupational therapy, speech therapy to the residents of the hospital and/or nursing home. They are directly housed in the hospital and in an old Operating Room 1. They are on-site basically eight hours a day, five days a week.

And how the money trail sort of goes is because in a critical access hospital, okay, you are not making a huge profit. You want to keep your cash flow up. So Corporate Management, StarAnn Lemear, had instructed me to get patients from the nursing home brought over to the hospital and admitted to one of our three beds. And to keep three in it at all times so that they could get rehab services, we could buy medical supplies from their company, and we also could keep a cash flow going for the hospital in order to meet payroll and pay some of the leases that we had initiated.

Well, if a patient needs to go to a hospital legitimately, that's fine, they come through the emergency room, the doctor decides whether or not they need to be admitted to one of the three rooms.

In the very beginning, we were at a occupancy rate of around 33 percent, which is one room out of three being filled. I was ordered by StarAnn Lemear and Terry Beard, and so was Miss Hunt, to find patients from the nursing home, to have them transferred over to the hospital to use their swing bed days.

R.E. Tab 4; R:52-53.

* * *

I had this case come up in late July, you know, where an individual was admitted, the 100 days were used. The patient wasn't really

sick. He was eating, doing good, talking, that whole nine yards. And we sent him back to the nursing home after we used his 100 days, got somebody else in. The patient became sick and needed to go back on swing bed. Well, you have to have a 60-day wellness period in between hospital stays in order to regenerate the 100 days again. So if he goes into the hospital, which he did, he had to pay a large amount of money for that service, and that's when it really became apparent to me what was going on.

R.E. Tab 4; R:54-55.

On January 21, 2008, two days before the January Motion Hearing and four days before the published Simmons statement, Cary Williams, CPA, produced a court-ordered report detailing CMI's purchases while CMI was managing the GRHC ("Williams Report").

R.E. Tab 4; R:56-58. The Williams Report stated in part:

1. For this sampling process 161 samples were taken that resulted in an average markup of 74% in prices paid by GRHC facility from CMI affiliates compared to the 3 distributors.

* * *

4. An array of the 161 samples is as follows:

Number of Samples	Markup rates as paid by GRHC over 3 distributor prices
2	CMI affiliates had better prices by 4% and 12% on the two invoices
11	Distributor prices better by less than 5%
148	Distributor prices better by 9% to 367%

6. In addition to the sampling discussed above, another sample was conducted out [Williams] where of. everv 15 one purchases, taken from CMI invoices, was priced using internet sources. This was an attempt to insure pure random selection. Results of this sampling was an average 70% increase price paid by GHRC thru CMI affiliates over prices paid on the open market.

R.E. Tab 4; R:57.

At the January Motion Hearing in <u>CMI v. GRHC</u>, Simmons made certain statements on the record regarding CMI's management of GRHC that were based on known facts in <u>CMI v. GRHC</u> in addition to the Aldridge Statement and the Williams Report:

What they did is they took over \$600,000 that was in GRHC's operating fund, and they spent that to get a three bedroom hospital ER, quote, up and running and the nursing home. That wasn't coming out of his pocket. That came out of GR - 600 plus thousand. Specifically \$626,263. They spent more than that. In four months they spent a million two eight. That was in the financial records that they produced.

Then we look at, because we want to know, Your Honor, what they're doing with their affiliates. CMI has wholly owned subsidiaries. Quest. Rehab. Quest Pharmacy. And it turns out that the information that we finally get, which again doesn't show us - and I'll tell you why that's important. It shows us that on average they are paying a 74 percent markup from cost to its own subsidiaries for the same products and goods that can be obtained on the open market.

R.E. Tab 4; R:63-64.

* * *

So if an item cost \$10, and their subsidiaries go out and get it, and we've determined that these items are available on the open market

for \$10, then they are sending an invoice to CMI and charging CMI - not CMI - GRHC, 17.50 roughly. And that's coming straight through, and it's coming out of GRHC's operating budget. On top of that, we're paying them a management agreement of 25 grand a month.

So he's making it on the management agreement for managing the facilities. is paying the employees not CMI, and on top of that every product or service coming in is coming through his own subsidiaries, and we're paying a 75 percent markup. That's what these financial records have shown. Now the main concern and why this last item is important, Your Honor, the reasons it was argued and this Court found important enough to list, we need to know the place where these things that we've purchased are? Where they're currently located, and the things that you purchased where were they used? How were they used? Because one of the biggest problems is Medicaid fraud is that we're going to be eligibly responsible for because all these are being reported on a cost report to Medicaid and Medicare that Greene County is ultimately as the owner is going to be responsible for is that one of the biggest problems is that these are phantom things.

R.E. Tab 4; R:64-65.

* * *

The light of day has shown on the circumstance. The people of this County need to know this and more importantly if they are going to argue that they are entitled to continue under a management contract that takes 15 percent of gross revenue that jumps up to roughly a million five a year. This facility will not survive that. They are sucking everything out, and they want more, and the fraud issue, which concerns me the most, can be answered by that.

R.E. Tab 4; R:66.

On January 25, 2008, the <u>Hattiesburg American</u> published an article about the January Motion Hearing and the article contained

a Simmons' out of court statement:

CMI purchases nearly all of the supplies, medications and services it uses through three wholly-owned subsidiaries: Quest Medical, Quest Rehab and Quest Pharmacy. Simmons said that these entities purchase the supplies, services and medicines on the open market and mark them up an average of 74 percent when they are sold to the Greene Rural Health Center. Many of the charges are as much as 200 percent higher than open market prices.

Simmons said that in addition to management fees and mark-ups, CMI also received an additional \$21,000 annual consulting fee through Quest Pharmacy, on top of paying more than \$100,000 per year to a part-time pharmacist.

Particularly troubling to Simmons is that CMI was ordered three times by the court and finally held in contempt before providing any financial information. Nor did CMI provide regular financial information to the GRHC trustees.

"This is a prime example of why the Medicare situation in the state and across the country is in the shape it is," Simmons said. "CMI is sucking these facilities dry. That money is coming out of the pockets of the people laying in those beds, their families and Medicare."

R.E. Tab 4; R:68-69.

On March 7, 2008, CMI filed the present action against Simmons and Simmons moved for summary judgment on November 20, 2008. R:6; R:16. At the March 19, 2009 hearing on Simmons' Motion for Summary Judgment, CMI admitted that it was a "vortex" public figure:

No. No, we have an obligation to correctly advise the Court legally and we're doing that. It was a public issue that had been in the public domain, i.e., whether or not to change management of the public hospital. Public dollars were being spent on it so I think, you know, legally, they were a vortex public --

they were brought into the public fray by that. But, so, our standard is to prove that he acted with reckless disregard for the truth or actual malice.

R.E. Tab 6; T:17-18.

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

CMI's evidence is inadequate under Miss. R. Civ. P. 56, Stuckey v. Provident Bank, 912 So.2d 859, 865 (Miss. 2005), and CMI's evidence fails to prove an essential element of its vortex public figure - defamation case. Moon v. Condere Corp., 690 So.2d 1191, 1196 (Miss. 1997).

IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW

According to Faulkner v. Wilcher (In re Will of Wilcher):

In reviewing a trial court's grant or denial of summary judgment, the well-established standard of review is de novo. Summary judgment is appropriate where "the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law." "A summary judgment motion is only properly granted when no genuine issue of material fact exists." "[T]he evidence must be viewed in the light most favorable to the party against whom the motion has been made."

994 So. 2d 170, 174 (Miss. 2008) (internal citations omitted).

"The appropriate summary judgment question is whether the evidence in the record could support a reasonable jury finding either that [CMI] has shown actual malice by clear and convincing evidence or that [CMI] has not." Franklin v. Thompson, 722 So.2d 688, 692 (Miss. 1998).

V. ARGUMENT

In order for a plaintiff to prove a typical defamation claim, it must show:

- (1) a false and defamatory statement concerning the plaintiff;
- (2) an unprivileged publication to a third party;
- (3) fault amounting at least to negligence on the part of the defendant; and
- (4) either actionability of the statement irrespective of special harm or the existence of special harm caused by the publication.

Moon, 690 So.2d at 1195 (citing Blake v. Gannett Co., Inc., 529 So.2d 595, 602 (Miss. 1988); Franklin, 722 So.2d at 692. However, the standard for element, "fault amounting at least to negligence," is raised in the case at bar:

Where a defamed party is a public figure, however, such party is prohibited from recovering damages unless that party proves that the statement was made with actual malice--that is, with knowledge that it was false or with reckless disregard of whether it was false or not.

Moon, 690 So.2d at 1195 (citing Blake, 529 So.2d at 600-01).

"[P]rivate individuals who become 'limited purpose' or 'vortex' public figures may also be subjected to this 'malice standard of proof.'" Moon, 690 So.2d at 1195 (citing Blake, 529 So.2d at 600-01; Ferguson v. Watkins, 448 So.2d 271 (Miss. 1984)).

CMI is an admitted "vortex" public figure. R.E. Tab 6; T:17-18.

In a vortex public figure - defamation case, "[A] person's ill will or personal spite will not, standing alone, support a finding

of actual malice . . . [T]he evidence must show that [Simmons] made a false publication with a 'high degree of awareness of . . . probable falsity' or must have 'entertained serious doubts as to the truth of his publication.'" <u>Franklin</u>, 722 So.2d at 692.

The Circuit Court erred: A) when it held that the proof CMI tried to proffer was sufficient to create a genuine issue as to whether what Simmons said was true; and the Court erred: B) when it failed to find that CMI did not introduce any proof on another essential element of CMI's vortex public figure - defamation case - that Simmons had a high degree of awareness that what he said was false.

A. Issue: Whether the Circuit Court abused its discretion when holding that CMI's evidence was sufficient under Rule 56 to create a genuine issue that Simmons' statement was false

The Circuit Court held CMI created a genuine issue as to whether Simmons' statement was based in fact. R.E. Tab 3; R:110. The Circuit Court made that holding based on an affidavit of CMI's C.O.O. R.E. Tab 5; R:95-96. CMI's affidavit simply alleging that everything that Simmons said and the facts he relied on are false does not by itself create a genuine issue on this or any other material fact.

1. CMI's unsupported affidavit was not legally sufficient proof to oppose Simmons' Motion for Summary Judgment

CMI's affidavit is not sufficient evidence under Miss. R. Civ. P. 56 to refute Simmons' statement or prove the facts he relied upon are false. "The non-moving party's claim must be supported by

more than a mere scintilla of colorable evidence; it must be evidence upon which a fair-minded jury could return a favorable verdict." <u>Luvene v. Waldrup</u>, 903 So.2d 745, 748 (Miss. 2005). In <u>Stuckey v. Provident Bank</u>, the Court reiterated the standard of evidence a non-moving party must submit to defeat summary judgment:

[T]he "unmistakable language" of Rule 56 as providing "that mere denial is insufficient to create an issue of fact . . . This is true whether the denial be in pleadings, briefs or arguments. Only sworn denials providing a credible basis therefore in evidentiary fact will suffice." Citing federal precedent, we ultimately held: Our Rule 56 mandates that the opposing the motion [for summarv | udgment be diligent. "Mere allegations which do not reveal detailed and precise facts will not prevent the award of summary judgment." The party opposing the motion is required to bring forward significant probative evidence demonstrating the existence of the triable issue of fact.

912 So.2d 859, 865 (Miss. 2005) (internal citations omitted). Stuckey holds, "Supporting and opposing affidavits shall be made on personal knowledge, shall set forth such facts as would be admissible in evidence, and shall show affirmatively that the affiant is competent to testify to the matter stated therein." Id. at 868.

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