IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2009-IA-00651-SCT

SIMMONS LAW GROUP, P.A. and HEBER S. SIMMONS, III

APPELLANTS

V.

CORPORATE MANAGEMENT, INC. (CMI)

APPELLEE

BRIEF OF THE APPELLEE, CORPORATE MANAGEMENT, INC.

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

Jackye C. Bertucci (MSB Darren Gray (MSB # Corporate Management, Inc. Post Office Box 3269 Gulfport, MS 39505 (228) 832-4220 (228) 832-4229

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLEE

NO. 2009-IA-00651-SCT

SIMMONS LAW GROUP, P.A. AND HEBER S. SIMMONS, III APPELLANTS

V.

CORPORATE MANAGEMENT, INC. APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

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

III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Plaintiff's burden in this defamation cause of action is to establish the following:

- (1) A false and defamatory statement concerning another;
- (2) An unprivileged publication to a third party;
- (3) Fault amounting at least to negligence on the part of the publisher; and
- (4) Either actionability of the statement irrespective of special harm or the existence of special harm caused by the publication.

Anders v. Newsweek, 727 F. Supp. 1065, 1066 (S.D. Miss. 1989) (citing Fulton v. Mississippi Publishers Corp., 498 So. 2d 1215 (Miss. 1986)).

Because the Plaintiff has conceded that the defamation involved a matter of public concern, a showing of malice is also required. *Anders*, 727 F.Supp. at 1066 (citing *New York Times v. Sullivan*, 376 U.S. 254 (1964); *Ferguson v. Watkins*, 448 So. 2d 271 (Miss. 1984)). Malice, however, may be shown through an accumulation of circumstantial evidence. *Anders*, 727 F.Supp. at 1067 (citing *Connaughton v. Harte Hanks Communications, Inc.*, 842 F.2d 825 (6th Cir. 1988), *aff'd*, 491 U.S. 657, 109 S.Ct. 2678, 105 L.Ed.2d 562 (1989)).

Defendants have proceeded in their argument as if Simmons merely repeated or paraphrased statements made to him by others. Defendant Simmons, however, went far beyond the disputed facts on which he allegedly relied, and made sensational statements with absolutely *no* basis in fact.

At a time when Medicare cuts and deficits were being heavily covered by the media, Simmons accused CMI of being "a prime example of why the Medicare situation in the state and across the country is in the shape it is." R. 68-69. He accused CMI of "sucking these facilities dry" and claimed, "[t]hat money is coming out of the pockets of the people laying in those beds, their families and Medicare." R. 68-69.

These statements were not supported by any facts, even disputed ones, but were clearly made to inflame the citizens of Greene County and to influence them to vote against CMI in the upcoming election. The allegations were "so inherently improbable that only a reckless man would have put them in circulation." *See St. Amant v. Thompson*, 390 U.S. 727, 732 (1968).

The courts have recognized the difficulty in obtaining direct evidence of a defendant's subjective state of mind in order to prove malice, and have therefore held that a plaintiff may prove that state of mind through "an accumulation of circumstantial evidence." *See, e.g., Anders v. Newsweek*, 727 F.Supp. 1065, 1067 (S.D. Miss. 1989). A reasonable jury could find from the evidence in the record that Simmons had no reasonable grounds to believe in the truth of his statements. Therefore, summary judgment is inappropriate, and the trial court was correct in so holding.

IV. STANDARD OF REVIEW

This Court has consistently admonished trial courts to make use of summary judgments with great caution, and has stated:

It is also important to note that Rule 56 requires that before a summary judgment can be granted there must be no genuine issue of "material" fact. The question then becomes, what is a "material" fact? This Court has recently held that a material fact "tends to resolve any of the issues, properly raised by the parties.". This means that if a "material" fact or facts are present in the case, summary judgment should not be granted.

Stegall v. WTWV, Inc., 609 So. 2d 348 (Miss. 1992) (quoting Mink v. Andrew Jackson Casualty Ins. Co., 537 So. 2d 431, 433 (Miss. 1988)).

With particular respect to libel actions, the Stegall court stated:

The U.S. Supreme Court has adopted as a summary judgment standard in libel actions the requirement that the trial court must be guided by the *New York Times* "clear and convincing" evidentiary standard in determining whether a genuine issue of actual malice exists. The evidence must be such that a reasonable jury might find that actual malice had been shown with convincing clarity. *Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc.*, 477 U.S. 242, 249, 106 S.Ct. 2505, 2510-2511, 91 L.Ed.2d 202, 212 (1986); *Johnson v. Delta-Democrat Publishing Co.*, 531 So. 2d 811, 815 (Miss. 1988). The appropriate summary judgment question is whether the evidence in the record could support a reasonable jury finding either that the plaintiff has shown actual malice by clear and convincing evidence or that the plaintiff has not. *Anderson*, 477 U.S. at 255-256, 106 S.Ct. at 2513-2514, 91 L.Ed.2d at 216.

Stegall, 609 So. 2d at 352.

If reasonable minds could differ on a material issue, a plaintiff is entitled to have a jury decide his claim. *Stegall*, 609 So. 2d at 351 (citing *Stamps v. Estate of Watts*, 528 So. 2d 812, 815 (Miss. 1988)). "Credibility determinations, the weighing of the evidence, and the drawing of legitimate inferences from the facts are jury functions, not those of a judge when he is ruling on a motion for summary judgment." *Stegall*, 609 So. 2d at 352-

53 (citing Anderson, 477 U.S. at 255; and James v. Mabus, 574 So. 2d 596, 600 (Miss. 1990)). Furthermore, in making determinations of fact on a motion for summary judgment, the court must view the evidence presented by the parties in the light most favorable to the non-moving party. McPherson v. Rankin, 736 F. 2d 175, 178 (5th Cir. 1984).

V. ARGUMENT

In order to prove a claim of defamation under Mississippi law, the plaintiff must establish:

- (1) A false and defamatory statement concerning another;
- (2) An unprivileged publication to a third party;
- (3) Fault amounting at least to negligence on the part of the publisher; and
- (4) Either actionability of the statement irrespective of special harm or the existence of special harm caused by the publication.

Anders v. Newsweek, 727 F.Supp. 1065, 1066 (S.D. Miss. 1989) (citing Fulton v. Mississippi Publishers Corp., 498 So. 2d 1215 (Miss. 1986)). In addition, if the defamation involves a matter of public concern, the level of proof must rise to that of actual malice. Anders, 727 F.Supp. at 1066 (citing New York Times v. Sullivan, 376 U.S. 254 (1964); Ferguson v. Watkins, 448 So. 2d 271 (Miss. 1984)).

The Plaintiff/Appellee has conceded that due to the public interest surrounding the issue giving rise to the statements made by the Defendants/Appellants, a showing of malice is required, either by proving that the Defendants/Appellants knew the statements were false, or that they made the statements in reckless disregard of whether or not they were true. *Stegall*, 609 So. 2d at 352 (citing *Ferguson v. Watkins*, 448 So. 2d 271, 277 (Miss. 1984); *Reaves v. Foster*, 200 So. 2d 453, 458-59 (Miss. 1967)).

The malice standard, however, is a subjective one, and the courts have therefore held that "[a] public figure plaintiff may prove the defendant's subjective state of mind through an accumulation of circumstantial evidence, direct evidence often being difficult, if not impossible, to obtain." *Anders*, 727 F.Supp. 1065, 1067 (citing *Connaughton v. Harte Hanks Communications, Inc.*, 842 F.2d 825 (6th Cir. 1988), *aff'd*, 491 U.S. 657 (1989)).

"The threshold question is whether the publication at issue is defamatory."

Anders, 727 F.Supp. at 1066 (citing Ferguson, 448 So. 2d at 275). In making that determination, Mississippi follows the common law rule that "[a]ny written or printed language which tends to injure one's reputation, and thereby expose him to public hatred, contempt or ridicule, degrade him in society, lessen him in public esteem or lower him in the confidence of the community is actionable per se." Fulton v. Mississippi Publishers Corp., 498 So. 2d 1215, 1217 (Miss. 1986) (quoting Ferguson v. Watkins, 448 So. 2d at 275).

In Anders v. Newsweek, Inc., the district judge explained the summary judgment standard for defamation cases as being whether "a reasonable jury properly instructed under a clear and convincing evidentiary standard [could] find that the language in question was (1) clearly directed toward the plaintiff and (2) clearly and unmistakably defamatory from the words themselves, without the jury having to rely upon innuendo, speculation or conjecture." Anders, 727 F.Supp. 1065, 1067 (S.D. Miss. 1989).

The statement made by the Defendant/Appellant and at issue in this case follows:

This is a prime example of why the Medicare situation in this state and across the country is in the shape it is. CMI is sucking these facilities dry. That money is coming out of the pockets of the people laying in those beds, their families and Medicare.

There can be no question that the statement was directed toward the Plaintiff, as the Defendant named the Plaintiff. Furthermore, such a statement clearly would tend to injure the reputation of the Plaintiff, a company operating a medical facility, and "lessen [it] in public esteem or lower [it] in the confidence of the community." *See Fulton, supra.*

The jury would not have to engage in any speculation to interpret the statement as meaning CMI was wrongfully taking money from the patients, their families, and Medicare. The fact that CMI lost the election held to determine management of the nursing facility is clear evidence that the statement injured the Plaintiff's reputation and standing in the community. CMI received only 893 votes (R. 70), when almost 2000 citizens signed a petition circulated by supporters of CMI before Simmons made his statement. (R. 68).

The law allows a public figure plaintiff to prove the defendant's subjective state of mind through circumstantial evidence. *Anders*, 727 F. Supp. at 1067 (citing *Connaughton v. Harte Hanks Communications, Inc.*, 842 F.2d 825 (6th Cir. 1988), *aff'd*, 491 U.S. 657 (1989)). "Such subjective awareness of probable falsity may be found if there are obvious reasons to doubt the veracity of an informant or the accuracy of his reports." *Id.* (citing *Herbert v. Lando*, 441 U.S. 153, 156-57 (1979)). Knowing that James Aldridge was a disgruntled former employee of CMI was an obvious reason for Simmons to doubt the veracity of the information provided by Aldridge.

In Stegall v. WTWV, Inc., this Court reversed a grant of summary judgment "due to the existence of genuine dispute of material facts and due to the existence of possible actual malice on the part of [the defendants]." Stegall v. WTWV, Inc., 609 So. 2d 348,

353 (Miss. 1992). J.P. Stegall alleged that WTWV and its reporter, Cathy Coggin, willfully, maliciously, and knowingly issued a false broadcast regarding Stegall on the television's evening newscast. *Id.* at 349. Stegall was a candidate for supervisor in Pontotoc County. *Id.*

In an evening newscast on election day, ¹ Coggin reported that Stegall, the candidate, had been arrested and had pled guilty to wrongdoing in a probe of corrupt county purchasing practices. *Id.* at 350. In fact it was Bobby Stegall, J.P. Stegall's cousin and the incumbent supervisor, who was arrested and indicted in the matter. *Id.* at 349-50.

In opposition to the defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment, Stegall submitted affidavits from Mary Evelyn Jones, a deputy circuit clerk in Pontotoc County, stating, in summary, that Coggin had called the courthouse on the afternoon of the primary election, and that in the course of a discussion, Ms Jones had informed Coggin that J.P. Stegall was not the person who had been indicted. *Id.* at 349. Coggin and the television station claimed that Coggin never called Jones or anyone else at the courthouse on the day of the election. *Id.*

The Mississippi Supreme Court found that there were numerous material facts in dispute, warranting a jury trial. *Stegall*, 609 So. 2d. at 351. Specifically addressing the "actual malice" requirement necessary due to Stegall's status as a public figure, the Court found that the evidence in the record "could support a reasonable jury finding that Stegall has shown actual malice, by clear and convincing evidence." *Id.* at 352. The Court noted, "[a] reasonable juror hearing testimony from Mary Evelyn Jones could find that

¹ The parties disagreed as to whether the report was broadcast at 6:00 p.m. or at 7:00 p.m., after the polls closed. *Id.* at 350.

Coggin exhibited a reckless disregard for the truth rather than a misinterpretation of available information." *Id.* If a jury believed Jones's testimony, then they could have reasonably believed that Coggin's frame of mind indicated she did not care whether her report was true or not. *Id.*

The Court observed that the trial court did not believe the affidavits of Jones to be of sufficient weight and credence, but did believe Coggin's denial of any phone call to be sufficient. *Id.* The appellate court found this to be error by the trial judge, noting that "credibility must be determined by the jury." *Id.* at 352-53. Similarly, the credibility of the witnesses in the instant action must be determined by a jury.

The Defendant/Appellant criticizes the Plaintiff's affidavit submitted in this matter, but the Defendant submitted no affidavit, nor any evidence of the Defendants' state of mind when he made the defamatory statements. The burden of rebutting a summary judgment motion does not arise unless and until "the moving party has satisfied its burden of demonstrating that no genuine issue of material fact exists." *Hurst v. Southwest Mississippi Legal Servs. Corp.*, 610 So. 2d 374, 383 (Miss. 1992).

Defendants contend they are entitled to summary judgment because CMI's cause of action is missing an essential element. But where a defendant moves for summary judgment on the ground that the plaintiff does not have an enforceable claim, the defendant "has the burden of clearly establishing the lack of any triable issue of fact and must take the initiative of marshalling a record so showing." *Blanke v. Time, Inc.*, 308 F.Supp. 378, 381 (E.D. La. 1970) (citing 6 MOORE, FEDERAL PRACTICE ¶56.04(2) (2d ed. 1985)). The Defendants have failed to establish such a record.

The Defendants submitted the following exhibits in support of their summary judgment motion: copies of newspaper articles; a letter reflecting Simmons' retention as attorney for Greene County; a copy of a report from Cary Williams, CPA; a copy of a statement from James Aldridge; and a copy of a transcript of a hearing in Greene County Chancery Court. R. 16-74. Nothing in the record demonstrates that the Defendants are entitled to prevail as a matter of law. Plaintiff CMI submitted an affidavit from its Chief Operating Officer, explaining the falsity of the Defendant's statements, even though the Defendant's motion for summary judgment was not supported sufficiently to require a response by the Plaintiff. R. 95-96.

The Defendants cite *St. Amant v. Thompson* in support of their contention that Simmons had no duty to investigate before he made his statements. The Defendants' reliance on *St. Amant* is flawed, however, in more than one respect. First of all, the *St. Amant* Court pointed out that a "defendant in a defamation action brought by a public official cannot, however, automatically insure a favorable verdict by testifying that he published with a belief that the statements were true." *St. Amant v. Thompson*, 390 U.S. 727, 732 (1968). The Court noted that professions of good faith will not likely prove persuasive when the "allegations are so inherently improbable that only a reckless man would have put them in circulation." *Id.* Most importantly, the Court stated, "[t]he *finder of fact* must determine whether the publication was indeed made in good faith." *Id.* (emphasis added). The question of good faith is one for a jury.

A district court judge in Louisiana reiterated St. Amant's recognition that 'reckless disregard' may be shown circumstantially, and stated:

... The credibility of a claim that the publisher's failure to suspect falsity was in good faith and not reckless is a question of fact, which may depend

on the circumstances surrounding publication, the reliability of sources, the opportunity available to investigate, and the urgency of publication, as well as the degree of sensationalism, from which improbability may be inferred and which may also increase the likelihood of damage to the individual defamed.

Blanke v. Time, Inc., 308 F.Supp. 378, 380 (E.D. La. 1970) (emphasis added) (citing St. Amant v. Thompson, supra; Curtis Publishing Co. v. Butts, 388 U.S. 130 (1967); and Washington Post Co. v. Keogh, 125 U.S. App. D.C. 32 (1967), cert denied, 385 U.S. 1011 (1967)).

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